THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 15 2013

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S.C. Supreme Court

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2012-213186

Jeffrey D. Allen, on behalf of Jane Doe

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority,  
Employee Insurance Program

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

John A. Massalon, Esquire  
Wills Massalon & Allen LLC  
P.O. Box 859  
Charleston, South Carolina 29401  
SC Bar Number: 010279  
(843) 727-1144

Terry E. Richardson, Jr., Esquire  
Richardson Patrick Westbrook & Brickman,  
LLC  
1730 Jackson Street  
P.O. Box 1368  
Barnwell, SC-29812

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the ALJ err in concluding that S.C. Code § 38-71-46 does not apply to the state health plan?
2. Did the ALJ err in considering pronouncements of legislative intent made long after passage of the statute at issue?
3. Did the ALJ err in failing to address the availability of class action relief in the ALC?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Jeffrey D. Allen is an employee of a local South Carolina school district and an insured/member of the State Health Plan operated by the South Carolina Employee Insurance Program (EIP). Appellant appealed the denial of an insurance claim for diabetes education for his dependant daughter to the administrator of the EIP State Health Plan on February 25, 2009. In his requests for explanation and reconsideration of the denial, Appellant inquired why the diabetes mandate at S.C. Code Ann. § 38-41-46 did not require coverage. Appellant receive no response from the EIP or its administrator, and on November 25, 2009, (two years less two days from Jane Doe's date of diagnosis), Appellant filed a putative class action complaint seeking declaratory judgment, reformation, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys fees in the Ninth Circuit Court of Common Pleas against the State of South Carolina and Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina. (R. Vol. II, pp. 457-68). (That case is the subject of a separate

appeal just recently decided by the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and with pending motion for Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court).

On March 19, 2010, Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina, as administrator for the State Health Plan, upheld its initial denial, and indicated that the appeal file would be sent to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Appeals Review Committee. (R Vol. II, p. 243). Two weeks later, on April 2, 2010, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Appeals Committee issued a denial of the appeal on the basis that education is expressly excluded under the State Health Plan and concluded, without explanation, that S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 did not apply to the State Health Plan. ( R.Vol. II, pp. 362-64). On June 30, 2010, Appellant appealed the denial to the EIP's Appeals Committee, (R. Vol. II pp. 358-59) (R. Vol. II – Vol. III pp. 452-622). By letter dated August 24, 2010, the EIP Appeals Committee wrote Appellant that it was denying his claim and again concluded that S.C. Code § 38-71-46 did not apply to the State Health Plan. (R.Vol. I, pp.200- 213). During the above-referenced “administrative appeal” to the EIP, there was no hearing, meeting, testimony, nor discovery. The EIP Appeals Committee conducts a paper review of EIP's initial coverage determination, which is also made without hearing.

On September 22, 2010, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal from the EIP decision to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. That appeal was fully briefed by March 3, 2011; no oral argument or hearing was scheduled. Three and a half years after beginning the “administrative review” and just short of two (2) years from the filing of the appeal to the ALC, on August 13, 2012, the ALJ issued a decision affirming the EIP's denial of benefits and concluding that the diabetes mandate statute did not apply to the

State Health Plan. Said Order was received on August 15, 2012, and that Notice of Appeal filed in this matter on September 14, 2012. This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Jeffrey D. Allen is an employee of a local South Carolina school district and an insured/member of the State Health Plan, as administered by the Employee Insurance Program (EIP). His daughter, Jane Doe, a dependant on that plan, was diagnosed with type 1 diabetes<sup>1</sup> in November 2007 at the age of two (2) years old. (R. Vol. I, p. 203). This appeal is about the EIP's failure to comply with a South Carolina statutory mandate for diabetes coverage and whether this matter should be certified as a class action. Appellant alleges that EIP has unlawfully denied Appellant's and other similarly-situated persons' claims for coverage of diabetes-related education on the grounds that the EIP is not subject to the state-wide mandate for diabetes education coverage. S.C. Code Ann. section 38-71-46 provides:

**Diabetes Mellitus coverage in health insurance policies, diabetes education.**

(A) On or after January 1, 2000, *every* health maintenance organization, *individual and group health insurance policy, or contract issued or*

---

<sup>1</sup> Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disease in which the body's immune system attacks and destroys the insulin-producing cells of the pancreas. Its causes are not yet entirely known. It causes dependence on injected or pumped insulin for life, and carries the constant threat of devastating complications. To stay alive, people with type 1 diabetes must take multiple insulin injections daily or continually infuse insulin through a pump. They must also test their blood sugar by pricking their fingers for blood six or more times a day. While trying to balance insulin doses with their food intake and daily activities, people with this form of diabetes still must always be prepared for serious hypoglycemic (low blood sugar) and hyperglycemic (high blood sugar) reactions, both of which can be life-limiting and life threatening. Each year, more than 15,000 children - 40 per day - are diagnosed with type 1 diabetes in the U.S.

[http://www.jdrf.org/index.cfm?fuseaction=home.viewPage&page\\_id=14AF69BC-BE51-42DA-B1B41955029FBC7F](http://www.jdrf.org/index.cfm?fuseaction=home.viewPage&page_id=14AF69BC-BE51-42DA-B1B41955029FBC7F) (December 28, 2010)

*renewed in this State must provide coverage for the equipment, supplies, Food and Drug Administration-approved medication indicated for the treatment of diabetes, and outpatient self-management training and education for the treatment of people with diabetes mellitus, if medically necessary, and prescribed by a health care professional who is legally authorized to prescribe such items and who demonstrates adherence to minimum standards of care for diabetes mellitus as adopted and published by the Diabetes Initiative of South Carolina. This subsection does not prohibit a health maintenance organization or an individual or a group health insurance policy from providing coverage for medication according to formulary or using network providers. Coverage must not be denied unless the health care professional demonstrates a persistent pattern of failure to adhere to the minimal standards of care and unless the health maintenance organization or insurer has first provided written notice to the health care professional that coverage will be denied if the health care professional fails to adhere to the minimal standards of care.*

(B) Services and payment for diabetes education programs shall conform to regulations of the Health Care Financing Administration, US Department of Health and Human Services, pursuant to Section 4105 of the Balanced Budget Act of 1997. Diabetes outpatient self-management training and education shall be provided by a registered or licensed health care professional with certification in diabetes by the National Certification Board of Diabetes Educators, or other accredited program approved by the Diabetes Initiative of South Carolina, or by the Diabetes Control Program of the SC Department of Health and Environmental Control in order to meet the needs of rural communities wherein certified health care professionals providing this service are not available.

(C) Nothing contained in this section may be construed to affect in any way the ability of a managed care plan to credential or re-credential a provider.

(D) For purposes of this section: "*Health insurance policy*" means a health benefit plan, contract, or evidence of coverage providing health insurance coverage as defined in Section 38-71-670(6) and Section 38-71-840(14).

(emphasis added).

The denial of benefits arose from an education session attended at MUSC on August 5, 2008. That day, Jane Doe's family and other caregivers, including two Charleston County School District nurses who were to be charged with her care in school

beginning in August 2008, attended a training session set up by MUSC Pediatric Endocrinology to train those caregivers, at home and school, how to operate an insulin pump prescribed by Doe's physician and scheduled to be attached to her body the following week. (R. Vol. III, p. 497). That training session lasted approximately two hours and was taught by a MUSC diabetic educator. Id.

The claim submitted to the State Health Plan was denied on August 27, 2008 on the grounds that the "benefit plan does not cover education and/or training for this condition." (R. Vol. II, pp. 385-86). On February 25, 2009, Appellant submitted a written request for reconsideration to Blue Cross Blue Shield. (R. Vol. III, pp. 506-11). Having received no response, Appellant wrote again on September 30, 2009 and inquired as to why the claim was denied and why S.C. Code § 38-71-46 did not mandate payment of the claim. (R. Vol. III, pp. 525-29). On November 25, 2009, (two years less two days from Jane Doe's date of diagnosis), Appellant filed a putative class action complaint seeking declaratory judgment, reformation, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys fees in the Ninth Circuit Court of Common Pleas against the State of South Carolina and Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina. (R. Vol. II, pp. 457-68). At the time of that court filing, EIP had yet to respond to Appellant's request for reconsideration.

The State Health Plan provides that it is "established and will be maintained with the intention of meeting the requirements of all applicable federal and state laws. Any provision of the Plan, which is in conflict with the law of any governmental body or agency that has jurisdiction over this Plan, shall be interpreted to conform to the minimum requirements of such law." (R. Vol. I, p. 106).

On March 23, 2010, over one year after Appellant's initial objection and three weeks after the first hearing in the circuit court case which resulted in a denial of the Respondent's motions to dismiss, Blue Cross Blue Shield first issued its decision dated March 19, 2010 to uphold the original denial dated August 27, 2008, and indicated that the appeal file would be sent to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Appeals Review Committee. (R. Vol. II, p. 361). Two weeks later, on April 2, 2010, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Appeals Committee issued a denial of the appeal on the basis that education is expressly excluded under the State Health Plan and concluded, without explanation, that S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 did not apply to the State Health Plan. (R. Vol. II, pp. 362-64). On June 30, 2010, Appellant appealed the denial to the EIP's Appeals Committee, (R. Vol. II, pp. 358-59), by sending as the basis for appeal a copy of the pleadings as filed in the then-concurrently pending case in the Court of Common Pleas. (R. Vol. II- Vol. III, pp. 452-623).

By letter dated August 24, 2010, the EIP Appeals Committee wrote Appellant that it was denying his claim and again stated that S.C. Code § 38-71-46 did not apply to the State Health Plan. (R. Vol. I, pp. 200-213). The underlying basis for the conclusion that the diabetes coverage mandate did not apply to the State Health Plan was explained (for the first time) as follows:

Lastly, the Committee noted the repeated assertions regarding S.C. Code 38-71-46 and Claimant's attorney's assertion that no one has explained why it does not apply to the State Health Plan. While the Committee noted the alternative methods for obtaining diabetes education noted above, the Committee also observed the Department of Insurance and the General Assembly *historically have acknowledged* the Department [of Insurance] has no jurisdiction over EIP. EIP is not a health insurance issuer under the Code. In the areas on which the General Assembly has

wanted to include EIP in the Accident and Health Insurance provisions of Title 38, Chapter 31, it has specifically said so. Therefore, because 38-71-46 does not refer to EIP or the State Health Plan, it does not apply to the State Health Plan.

(R. Vol. I, p. 213). That explanation contains a single footnote which referenced S.C. Code Ann. §1-11-780 -- a statute addressing mental health coverage -- presumably as the legal justification for the proposition that the South Carolina Department of Insurance has no jurisdiction over the South Carolina State Budget and Control Board's Employee Insurance Program -- an insurance program which admittedly insures over 400,000 South Carolinians. The only support for this underlying legal conclusion appears on the Medical Affairs Review Coordinator's Response in long-hand dated March 15, 2010 and signed by Ashby M. Jordan, MD, V.P. Medical Affairs wherein she writes "the statute referenced in the appeal document does not apply to the State Health Plan." (R. Vol. II, p. 395).

Curiously, in its decision, the EIP also makes very general reference to "alternative methods for obtaining diabetes education," in particular a program entitled "Prevention Partners" and MUSC Options, a separate HMO option for State employee insurance. (R. Vol. I, p. 212). These references, however, do not form the basis for the decision and are, at best, irrelevant, and at worst an attempt to further obfuscate the issue. Prevention Partners is described by the EIP's Insurance Benefit Guide to include services such as preventive worksite screenings for prevention and early detection of chronic disease, spring wellness walk, lifestyle change workshops, worksite program consultation, and volunteer worksite prevention partners. (R. Vol. III, pp. 566-67). Clearly, this program is aimed at adults suffering from chronic and preventable diseases,

such as heart disease and Type 2 Diabetes. The EIP did not and cannot contend that the educational service prescribed by Jane Doe’s physician to assist her caregivers with the operation of her insulin pump would have been paid for or covered by said program. Further, contrary to the EIP’s conclusion that Appellant made no mention of this program, Appellant was contacted, during this legal challenge, presumably about the Prevention Partners’ “wellness program” and then told that Jane Doe was not old enough to participate and that their records indicated (incorrectly) the chronic condition she suffered from was asthma. (R. Vol. III, p. 501). Respondent also referenced in its decision the Appellant could have chosen plans other than the State Health Plan – BlueChoice HMO or MUSC Options as his insurance plan, and that education is covered under those plans. (R. Vol. I, p. 212). However, Respondent fails to recognize that those plans are not the subject of this action, and failed to mention that MUSC Options “option” was discontinued by the EIP in October 2008.

As contained in the Appellant’s Notice of Appeal to the EIP, the claim alleges that the Plaintiff is insured through the State Health Plan, which is a non-ERISA health benefit plan,<sup>2</sup> and that the State Health Plan is in violation of the diabetes mandate by its failure to provide coverage for diabetes education in accordance with the statutory mandate which was enacted in 1999. (R. Vol. II, p. 452). The appeal alleged that over 15,000 State of South Carolina employees have some type of diabetes, and that the exact

---

<sup>2</sup> 29 U.S.C.A. § 1003(b)(1) expressly excludes government plans from the broad sweep of ERISA preemption of state laws. Silvera v. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of New York, 884 F.2d 423, 425 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989). ERISA expressly defines governmental plan as including a plan established by the government of a State or political subdivision 29 U.S.C.A. § 1002 (32).

number of class members affected by the Respondent's unlawful exclusion of coverage for diabetes education is known only to the Respondent and will need to be obtained from the Respondent. (R. Vol. II, pp. 459-60). The appeal to the EIP sought: (1) class action certification; (2) a declaration that the State of South Carolina benefit plan violates the diabetes mandate; (3) a declaration regarding the future rights of the members of the putative class; (4) reformation of the benefit plan to comply with the mandate; (4) disgorgement and return of all profits and/or monies which should have been paid to putative class, (5) an injunction to stop the Respondent from continuing their unlawful actions in the future, and (6) costs and attorneys fees. (R. Vol. II, p. 464).

## ARGUMENT

### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appeal is subject to review pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 which provides for judicial review upon exhaustion of administrative remedies. Subsection (A) (5) states, in part, that

The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or

clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

B. THE PLAIN AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE DIABETES MANDATE, S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-71-46, APPLIES TO THE STATE HEALTH PLAN.

The ALJ erred by concluding that the State Health Plan was excluded from the diabetes mandate statute. Statutory interpretation is a question of law. City of Newberry v. Newberry Elec. Coop., Inc., 387 S.C. 254, 256, 692 S.E.2d 510, 512 (2010). "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." Hardee v. McDowell, 381 S.C. 445, 453, 673 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2009) (internal quotation omitted). Under the plain meaning rule, the court is not permitted to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). Where the statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the court may not impose a different meaning and need not employ rules of statutory interpretation. Gay v. Ariail, 381 S.C. 341, 345, 673 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2009).

The diabetes mandate statute states that it applies to "*every . . . group health insurance policy, or contract* issued or renewed in this State . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 (a) (emphasis added). The seminal question in this appeal is whether this language applies to the Employee Insurance Program's State Health Plan, i.e. whether the State Health Plan is a "group health insurance policy, or contract issued or renewed in this State" as defined in the mandate.

Unlike some cases, the legislature did not omit the definition of "health insurance

policy” for the purposes of this mandate. Instead, the General Assembly defined the term “health insurance policy” for this particular statute to mean “a health benefit plan, contract, or evidence of coverage providing health insurance coverage as defined in Section 38-71-670(6) and Section 38-71-840(14).” Id. 38-71-46(d).

The ALJ concluded that this statute did not apply to the EIP. Appellant disagrees. Therefore, the question of law for this court is whether the ALJ properly interpreted the language of S.C. Code Ann. §§ 38-71-46; 38-71-670(6); and 38-71-840(14). The entire text of section 38-71-46 is found infra. at pp.1-2. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840 (14) defines “Health insurance coverage” as follows:

(14) "Health insurance coverage" means *benefits* consisting of medical care *provided* directly, *through insurance or reimbursement, or otherwise* and including items and services paid for as medical care under any hospital or medical service policy or certificate, hospital or medical service plan contract, or health maintenance organization contract offered by a health insurance issuer, *except*:

- (a) coverage only for accident or disability income insurance or any combination of these;
- (b) coverage issued as a supplement to liability insurance;
- (c) liability insurance, including general liability insurance and automobile liability insurance;
- (d) workers' compensation or similar insurance;
- (e) automobile medical payment insurance;
- (f) credit-only insurance;
- (g) coverage for on-site medical clinics;

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