THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2012-213186

---

Jeffrey D. Allen, on behalf of Jane Doe.....Appellant.

v.

South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority,  
Employee Insurance Program.....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Theodore D. Willard, Jr.  
**MONTGOMERY WILLARD, LLC**  
1002 Calhoun Street  
Post Office Box 11886  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1886  
Telephone: (803) 779-3500  
Facsimile: (803) 799-2755

Stephen Van Camp  
**SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE  
BENEFIT EMPLOYEE INSURANCE PROGRAM**

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE ALC'S DECISION TO UPHOLD THE DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR SEPARATELY-BILLED DIABETES EDUCATION WAS CORRECT GIVEN THAT THE DECISION WAS RATIONAL AND WAS SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD, APPLICABLE STATE LAW, AND THE TERMS OF THE STATE HEALTH PLAN.**

#### Standard of Review

In S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-710(C), the General Assembly establishes the Board as the final agency arbiter of disputes under the Plan. Under that section:

Notwithstanding Sections 1-23-310 and 1-23-320 or any other provision of law, claims for benefits under any self insured plan of insurance offered by the State to state and public school district employees and other eligible individuals must be resolved by procedures established by the board, which shall constitute the exclusive remedy for these claims, subject only to appellate judicial review consistent with the standards provided in Section 1-23-380.

Under the Board's procedures, which are set forth in Article 12 of the Plan, a claim is reviewed first by the third-party claims processor, in this case BCBSSC, with final agency appeal to the Plan Administrator, in this case EIP in the form of its Appeals Committee. As established in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-710(C), the appropriate standard of review is provided in § 1-23-380 of the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") as follows:

The Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The Court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The Court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are:

- a. in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- b. in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- c. made upon unlawful procedures;
- d. affected by other error of law;

- e. clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- f. arbitrary or capricious as characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (2008).<sup>8</sup>

The APA establishes the “substantial evidence” rule as the standard for judicial review of agency decisions. Roper Hosp. v. Bd. of S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Ctrl., 306 S.C. 138, 410 S.E.2d 558 (1991); Lark v. Bi-Lo Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the substantial evidence standard of review, the Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency unless the agency’s findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record.). See Wilson v. State Budget & Ctrl. Bd. Employee Ins. Program, 374 S.C. 300, 648 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2007).

Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow a reasonable mind to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached to justify its action. Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills, Inc., 312 S.C. 377, 440 S.E.2d 401 (Ct.App. 1994). See also Ruocco v. S.C. State Bd. of Registration for Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surveyors, 314 S.C. 111, 441 S.E.2d 829 (Ct. App. 1994) (when reviewing an agency’s decision under the APA to determine if substantial evidence exists, the record must be viewed as a whole to determine whether there is evidence allowing reasonable minds to reach the conclusion of the agency). An abuse of

---

<sup>8</sup> The Plan itself provides at Paragraphs 6.2 and 12.6 that “any construction or interpretation of the Plan . . . or any other decision arising under the Plan, or exercise of judgment or discretion given to the Plan Administrator . . . shall be binding and conclusive so long as the decision of the Plan Administrator or its duly authorized agent is not arbitrary or capricious or in violation of the applicable statutory law.” (R. pp. 136, 182).

discretion occurs when a factual ruling is without evidentiary support. Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565 (1987). The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Sharp v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999).

**A. S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-71-46 HAS NO APPLICATION TO THE STATE HEALTH PLAN BASED ON A PLAIN READING OF THE STATUTE.**

Apparently recognizing that the terms of the State Health Plan specifically exclude standalone educational services like the session at issue, Appellant argues the State Health Plan should be reformed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 to cover diabetes education.<sup>9</sup> However, Appellant's argument fails in that the ALC correctly found S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 had no application to the State Health Plan because the State Health Plan is a self-funded, non-federal governmental plan and is not subject to regulation by the South Carolina Department of Insurance ("SCDOI").

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to give effect to the intent of the

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellant's brief fails to make any argument that the ALC erred by finding that express terms of the State Health Plan did not cover separately-billed diabetes management education services. By failing to address this issue in his brief, Appellant waived any argument that the requested services were not covered by express terms of the State Health Plan. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal."); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 157, 561 S.E.2d 640, 648 (Ct. App. 2002) (providing that an argument is abandoned on appeal when conclusory and without supporting authority); ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case); Continental Ins. Co. v. Shives, 328 S.C. 470, 492 S.E.2d 808 (Ct. App. 1997) (a lower court's unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case, and the appellate court must assume the ruling was correct). Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Jones, 335 S.C. 295, 516 S.E.2d 468 (Ct.App.1999) (holding an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case, and the appellate court must assume the ruling was correct).

legislature. S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 390 S.C. 418, 425, 702 S.E.2d 246, 250 (2010); Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (citing Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993)). Legislative intent is first and foremost determined by the language of the statute. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (citing Whittler v. State, 328 S.C. 1, 6, 492 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997)). “When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” S.C. Coastal Conservation League, 390 S.C. at 425-26, 702 S.E.2d at 250; see, also Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). “Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning.” Id., 390 S.C. at 425, 702 S.E.2d at 250. The literal language of a statute should be disregarded only when the result is so plainly absurd that it clearly could not have been the intent of the legislature. Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc’ns, Inc., 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994) (citing Stackhouse v. Rowland, 86 S.C. 419, 68 S.E. 561 (1910)).

“The legislature is presumed to have fully understood the meaning of the words used in a statute and, unless this meaning is vague or indefinite, intended to use them in their ordinary and common meaning or in their well-defined legal sense.” Pee v. AVM, Inc., 344 S.C. 162, 168, 543 S.E.2d 232, 235 (Ct. App. 2001). “Where the legislature chooses not to define a term in the statute, courts should interpret the term in accordance with its usual and customary meaning.” Id. at 168, 543 S.E.2d at 235 (citing Adoptive Parents v. Biological Parents, 315 S.C. 535, 543, 446 S.E.2d 404, 409 (1994)). “The true

guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in light of its manifest purpose.” Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 253, 260, 626 S.E.2d 6, 10 (2005). “Once the Legislature has made [a] choice, there is no room for courts to impose a different judgment based upon their notions of public policy.” State Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Mumford, 299 S.C. 14, 20, 382 S.E.2d 11, 14 (Ct. App. 1989).

A plain reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 and the statutes incorporated therein indicates it has no application to the State Health Plan. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 makes no mention that it applies to the State Health Plan, EIP, the South Carolina Budget and Control Board, or any combination thereof. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 states:

(A) On or after January 1, 2000, every health maintenance organization, individual and group health insurance policy, or contract issued or renewed in this State must provide coverage for equipment, supplies, Food and Drug Administration-approved medication indicated for the treatment of diabetes, and outpatient self-management training and education for treatment of people with diabetes mellitus, if medically necessary, and prescribed by a health care professional who is legally authorized to prescribe such items and who demonstrates adherence to minimum standards of care for diabetes mellitus as adopted and published by the Diabetes Initiative of South Carolina.

(D) For purposes of this section: “Health insurance policy” means a health benefit plan, contract, or evidence of coverage providing health insurance coverage as defined in Section 38-71-670 (6)<sup>[10]</sup> and Section 38-71-840 (14).

Id. (Emphasis added).

---

<sup>10</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-670(6) contains identical language to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(14) and applies to individual policies. Because the coverage at issue is group coverage, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-670(6) is not relevant to the analysis.

S.C. Code Ann. §38-71-840 (14), which involves group health insurance, defines

health insurance coverage as:

(14) “Health insurance coverage” means benefits consisting of medical care provided directly, through insurance or reimbursement, or otherwise and including items and services paid for as medical care under any hospital or medical service policy or certificate, hospital or medical service plan contract, or health maintenance organization contract offered by a health insurance issuer, except:

- (a) coverage only for accident, or disability income insurance, or any combination of accident and disability income insurance;
- (b) coverage issued as a supplement to liability insurance;
- (c) liability insurance, including general liability insurance and automobile liability insurance;
- (d) workers’ compensation or similar insurance;
- (e) automobile medical payment insurance;
- (f) credit-only insurance;
- (g) coverage for on-site medical clinics;
- (h) other similar insurance coverage, specified in regulations, under which benefits for medical care are secondary or incidental to other insurance benefits;
- (i) if offered separately;
  - (i) limited scope dental or vision benefits;
  - (ii) benefits for long-term care, nursing home care, home health care, community-based care, or any combination of these;
  - (iii) other similar, limited benefits as are specified in regulations;
- (j) if offered as independent, noncoordinated benefits;
  - (i) coverage only for a specified disease or illness;
  - (ii) hospital indemnity or other fixed indemnity insurance;
- (k) if offered as a separate insurance policy;
  - (i) Medicare supplemental health insurance as defined under Section 1882(g)(1) of the Social Security Act;
  - (ii) coverage supplemental to the coverage provided under Chapter 55, Title 10 of the United States Code; and
  - (iii) similar supplemental coverage under a group health plan.

Id. (Emphasis added).

S.C. Code Ann. §38-71-840 (16) defines a “health insurance issuer” as:

(16) “Health insurance issuer” or “issuer” means any entity that provides health insurance coverage in this State. For purposes of this section, “issuer” includes an insurance company, a health maintenance

organization, and any other entity providing health insurance coverage which is licensed to engage in the business of insurance in this State and which is subject to state insurance regulation.

Id. (Emphasis added).

The ALC correctly found that because the State Health Plan is a self-funded plan and not “health insurance coverage” pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840 (14), and because EIP is not licensed to engage in the business of insurance in this State and not a “health insurance issuer” subject to insurance regulation pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(16), S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 has no application to the State Health Plan and EIP. Contrary to Appellant’s assertion, the important distinction between a self-funded health plan and a fully-insured health plan is not limited to cases governed by the well-known Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). As noted above, the dictionary definition of “self-insured” means the employer has assumed the risk obligation, and “there is no contract with an insurance company.” Black’s Law Dictionary 664 (8th ed. abr. 2005).

As the United States Supreme Court has recognized, self-funded plans generally are not subject to state insurance regulation. See FMC Corporation v. Holliday, 498 U.S. 52 (1990) (self-funded plans usually are not subject to state insurance regulation). The State Health Plan is a self-funded, non-federal, governmental health plan for employees of state agencies, public school districts, and other public entities, administered by EIP, and is not a fully-insured plan. (R.p. 444). EIP is not licensed to engage in the business of insurance in this State and is not subject to insurance regulation by the SCDOI. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-780 (Supp. 2009) (“The State Employee Insurance Program...is not under the jurisdiction of the Department of Insurance”). Because S.C. Code Ann.

§ 38-71-46 is a state insurance statute, it has no application to a self-funded health plan.

Appellant's attempt to rely on the doctrine of "the enumeration of exclusions from the operation of a statute indicates that the statute should apply to all cases not specifically excluded" has no application because S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 and the statutes incorporated therein are not ambiguous. "If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, 'the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.'" Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000). Simply put, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 only applies to "health insurance coverage" issued by an "insurance issuer" licensed and regulated by the SCDOI. The State Health Plan is not "health insurance coverage," nor is EIP an "insurance issuer." Accordingly, the State Health Plan does not meet even the preliminary requirements under S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(16). Therefore, any analysis of the exclusions under S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(16) is irrelevant.

**B. EVEN ASSUMING FOR THE SAKE OF ARGUMENT THAT S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-71-46 WAS AMBIGUOUS AND RESORT TO THE RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION WAS NEEDED, S.C. CODE ANN. § 38-71-46 STILL DID NOT APPLY TO THE STATE HEALTH PLAN.**

The ALC correctly found that even assuming for the sake of argument that S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 was ambiguous and resort to the rules of statutory construction was needed, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 still did not apply to the State Health Plan. (Order, pp. 9-11). The Legislature recently and explicitly recognized the lack of jurisdiction of the SCDOI over EIP as recently as 2005:

The State Employee Insurance Program shall continue to provide mental health parity in the same manner and with the same management practices as included in the plan beginning in 2002,<sup>[11]</sup> and is not under the jurisdiction of

---

<sup>11</sup> The prior coverage beginning in 2002 that is referenced in this statute is from repealed

the Department of Insurance. The continuation by the State Employee Insurance Program of providing mental health parity in accordance with the plan set forth in 2002 constitutes compliance with this act.

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